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          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: The Committee is

          3  back in session and we are now joint with the

          4  Committee on Higher Education, Chaired by Council

          5  Member Charles Barron. We have a number of members

          6  here and we're going to be joined by other members

          7  as we go on. We have Council Member Robert Jackson

          8  from Manhattan, Council Member Miguel Martinez from

          9  Manhattan, Council Member Tony Avella from Queens,

         10  Council Member Helen Sears from Queens, Council

         11  Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn. I'm David Weprin, I

         12  chair the Finance Committee, and on my immediate

         13  right, it's usually on my left but on my immediate

         14  right is the Chair of the Higher Education

         15  Committee, Charles Barron.

         16                 Before we hear from the Chancellor, I

         17  just want to state that we're a little upset in the

         18  City Council, considering that we have a

         19  multi-billion dollar surplus, which may be as much

         20  as, may be more than $5 billion, the Administration

         21  says it's about four and a half billion, we suspect

         22  it's considerably more than that, that there are

         23  still significant cuts to the CUNY system. Forty

         24  million of initiatives that the Council restored or

         25  added in Fiscal Year '07 adopted budget, are cut
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          2  from the Executive Budget, and that includes $14.6

          3  million for administrative duties, 11.3 million for

          4  the Peter Vallone Scholarship, 4.5 million for the

          5  SafetyNet Program, as well as a number of other

          6  cuts.

          7                 In addition to those cuts, due to a

          8  PEG program, or a program to end the gap, which the

          9  Director of the Budget Page testified right here

         10  before another billion dollars was found in revenue

         11  before that additional billion dollars was found in

         12  revenue and recognized in a budget modification, he

         13  testified that they were not going to do a PEG

         14  program this year, but nevertheless, they decided to

         15  do one anyway, and as a result they asked for a one

         16  percent cut in the existing budget and a four

         17  percent cut in the '08 budget which we're about to

         18  adopt, and that results in about 120 positions being

         19  eliminated from the CUNY system, 216,000 from

         20  library services, which means about 11 positions

         21  eliminated, plus 772,000 cut from student services,

         22  which means 22 additional positions, so the Fiscal

         23  Year '07 PEG reductions are about 2.8 million and

         24  Fiscal Year '08, 6.4 million. So, I know we're going

         25  to hear from the Chancellor shortly telling us why
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          2  these cuts are not good, are kind of surprising in

          3  light of the budget surplus that we have. But as you

          4  know, that the City Council each and every year has

          5  taken a very strong position in favor of CUNY and I

          6  know Chair Barron has been a champion for CUNY, and

          7  I'd like to think that I have as well.

          8                 So, with that note, I'm going to turn

          9  it over to Chair Barron.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Don't try to

         11  behave yourself just because David is here. You know

         12  you always clap for me when I'm introduced. So, you

         13  may proceed with the handclapping. See, you're

         14  trying to act different, because you know at our

         15  hearings we act up. So, I just wanted you to

         16  continue to do that.

         17                 But I do want to say to Council

         18  Member Weprin, we thank him for his years of support

         19  for CUNY around budget time. We can always count on

         20  his support, and the Council as a whole has been

         21  very, very supportive of CUNY, and we're going to

         22  continue to prioritize you, because it is that

         23  important to us. You know, education is supposed to

         24  be a right, privilege, a right to all of us and a

         25  right to have it as affordable and inexpensive, free
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          2  perhaps.

          3                 (Applause.)

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, we just want

          5  to keep struggling for the things. We're going to

          6  start a crusade in CUNY, because they see a nice

          7  turnout out, but there are 400,000 CUNY students,

          8  250,000, over 200,000 in undergrad and graduate

          9  programs, and certainly when you graduate, you stay

         10  in the City for ten years and contribute billions of

         11  dollars worth of taxes to this City so they

         12  shouldn't put us through this annually every time we

         13  turn around we gotta dance over some pocket change,

         14  try to get it back in the budget, and we're tired of

         15  that.

         16                 So, let me read my opening statement,

         17  and I want to thank all of those who helped prepare

         18  this. We have some very, very great people behind

         19  us. And what I usually introduce them, I just want

         20  them to come up very quickly and introduce

         21  themselves so you can hear their voice and the hard

         22  work that they do because I think that they deserve

         23  the credit. We'll start with you, young lady.

         24                 MS. HALM: Baaba Halm, Counsel to the

         25  Committee.
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          2                 MS. SMITH: Shadawn Smith, City

          3  Council Finance.

          4                 MS. SIMMONS: Joyce Simmons, Higher

          5  Education Liaison for Councilman Charles Barron's

          6  office.

          7                 MS. TURNBULL: Tanisha Turnbull,

          8  Counsel to the Finance Division.

          9                 MS. OWUSU: Shauneequa Owusu, Policy

         10  Analyst.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So I just wanted

         12  to let you know --

         13                 MS. TOTH: Nathan Toth, City Council

         14  Finance.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just want to

         16  let you know, we appear to be smart, this is why,

         17  because we've got the people that do all the

         18  research, and all I have to do is read this, appear

         19  very, very intelligent. So, I just thank them for

         20  that.

         21                 Good afternoon. I'm Charles Barron,

         22  Chair of the Higher Education Committee. This is a

         23  joint hearing, as you know, the Finance and Higher

         24  Education, on Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget. We will

         25  be reviewing the projected budget of the City
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          2  University for the coming Fiscal Year 2008.

          3  Chancellor Matthew Goldstein is here, has been

          4  invited to testify before the Committee on the

          5  University's proposed Expense and Capital Budgets

          6  and their impact on CUNY students, faculty and

          7  administrative services and staffing.

          8                 During last year's budget

          9  negotiations, the City Council successfully diverted

         10  cuts to the Peter Vallone Scholarship, Academic

         11  Scholarship, the Community College SafetyNet

         12  Program, and various other Council-funded

         13  initiatives. Once again, despite the Council's best

         14  efforts, the Fiscal 2008 Executive Budget, as

         15  proposed by the Mayor, does not restore the 40

         16  million in hidden cuts to CUNY. Thus, we commence in

         17  the annual budget dance, a process by which the

         18  Council restores and adds money to the budget for

         19  vital needs and services and the Administration

         20  refuses to baseline these items, so we don't have to

         21  go through this every year, such needs and services.

         22                 Despite our record surplus of over $5

         23  billion, the Administration has cut another 6.4

         24  million in Fiscal 2008 from CUNY's budget on top of

         25  all the Council initiatives, which are not restored.
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          2  Such cuts also include a $14.6 million reduction to

          3  CUNY's Administration.

          4                 If not in the time of record surplus,

          5  then when should the Administration stop cutting

          6  CUNY's funding. As Chair of the Higher Education

          7  Committee, we are tired of the dancing to the same

          8  old tune of annual cuts to the CUNY's budget.

          9                 By the way, you know, this dance is

         10  to divert us away from really looking at the $59

         11  billion, $59 billion budget that this City has. This

         12  City's budget is larger than 48 State budgets in the

         13  United States. This City's budget is larger than

         14  every African country's budget, every Caribbean

         15  country's budget and larger than many European

         16  country's budgets, New York City's budget is, during

         17  a surplus year we've got to go through this.

         18                 The reductions to CUNY's budget

         19  creates a loss in faculty, staff, services, making

         20  it even harder for CUNY to provide quality services

         21  programs and support to its students. Yet, again,

         22  the burden to restore this funding should not always

         23  rest on the Council's shoulders.

         24                 We look forward to having a frank

         25  conversation on how these reductions can be avoided
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          2  so that the future of CUNY students is not

          3  jeopardized.

          4                 The Committee also looks forward to

          5  receiving a testimony concerning CUNY's capital

          6  budget. A major focus for the Higher Education

          7  Committee this year has been to make New York State

          8  responsible for all capital and operational funding

          9  for Medgar Evers College. It's time for them to

         10  treat Medgar Evers College as a senior college and

         11  support and fund it fully on a capital level. Right

         12  now Medgar Evers is the only senior college that has

         13  to get a 50 percent match from the City for it to

         14  get its capital money, and that's not right. We need

         15  to have Medgar Evers treat it as a senior college

         16  and 100 percent of its capital should come from the

         17  State.

         18                 I thank you. And with that, we have a

         19  lot of questions around the capital money, around

         20  the expense money, we'll have some questions for the

         21  Chancellor after he testifies, but we have to build

         22  a strong movement in CUNY so that we get the respect

         23  for the City that we deserve. Because once students

         24  rise up to the 21st century, like we did in the

         25  sixties, they will respect us and treat us the way

                                                            12

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  we should be treated.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: We've also been

          5  joined by a few more members. We have Council Member

          6  Larry Seabrook from the Bronx and Council Member

          7  Gale Brewer from Manhattan, and among the audience,

          8  I noticed the President of Queens Borough Community

          9  College, Eduardo Marti and the President of

         10  LaGuardia Community College, Gail Mellow. We also

         11  have our Deputy Majority Leader, Leroy Comrie.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I just wanted to

         13  single out the members of the Higher Education

         14  Committee, and that is Council Member Miguel

         15  Martinez, Council Member Larry Seabrook, Council

         16  Member Gale Brewer, and Council Member Tony Avella.

         17  They've been very, very supportive of you and

         18  they've been very, very attentive. Oh, clap for my

         19  Council Members who are on the Higher Education

         20  Committee, because they work hard for you.

         21                 Thank you, Miguel, for reminding me.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Chancellor

         23  Goldstein, and it's nice to see Ms. Weinshall in a

         24  different position. We looked forward to having her

         25  as Transportation Commissioner, but I think she'll
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          2  have an easier time this time.

          3                 Chancellor.

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Thank you. Good

          5  afternoon, Chairperson Weprin and Chairperson

          6  Barron, members of the Finance and Higher Education

          7  Committees, staff and guests. To my left, I'd like

          8  to acknowledge Vice Chancellor Ernesto Malave, who

          9  is Vice Chancellor for Budget and Finance at this

         10  great University; and to my right you already

         11  acknowledged Iris Weinshall, our newest Vice

         12  Chancellor for Facilities, Management and Design.

         13                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         14  testify about the City University of New York, and

         15  the FY '08 Executive Budget. I want to reiterate at

         16  the outset what I said when I appeared here last

         17  March, all of us at CUNY appreciate your strong and

         18  enduring advocacy of CUNY and public higher

         19  education. We look forward to working with the

         20  Council to ensure the continuing progress that you

         21  and the rest of the City have come to expect from

         22  all of us at this great University.

         23                 As you know, CUNY is the country's

         24  largest urban public university. Enrollment at

         25  CUNY's 23 colleges and professional schools now

                                                            14

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  stands at its highest level in over 31 years,

          3  serving more than 226,000 degree credit students and

          4  230,000 adult continuing education and professional

          5  education students.

          6                 Allow me to share with you a few

          7  examples of CUNY's progress in meeting New Yorker's

          8  educational needs. Just this past February, our

          9  Board of Trustees unanimously approved a program

         10  leading to the doctoral degree in public health.

         11  This moves us forward on our plans to launch New

         12  York City's first public graduate school of public

         13  health, to be located at Hunter College. This will

         14  be a University-wide effort.

         15                 The new school will allow us to

         16  synthesize our University-wide endeavors in public

         17  health training, including those that originate at

         18  our community colleges where so much workforce

         19  development is routed and researched. It will offer

         20  a platform from which those activities will be

         21  significantly expanded. It will enable CUNY to

         22  better serve New York City in the critical areas of

         23  urban health and related health sciences providing

         24  significantly greater variety, extent and quality of

         25  services.
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          2                 The new Graduate School of Public

          3  Health is one part of our multi-faceted decade of

          4  the science initiative, the overarching goal of

          5  which is to heighten scientific literacy and

          6  achievement. We must, for example, equip our

          7  students and faculty with state-of-the-art research

          8  facilities. We also recognize the urgency of

          9  promoting science awareness among the general public

         10  and will make that work the focus of our next CUNY

         11  month in November of '07.

         12                 We recognize this country's crisis is

         13  scientific literacy and we are working to rectify

         14  it. We continue to reach out to members of

         15  traditionally under-represented groups. New programs

         16  such as the Teacher Academy and the Black Male

         17  Initiative are focusing particular attention on the

         18  educational needs of underserved populations in our

         19  City, both within our public and middle, high

         20  schools at the post-secondary level.

         21                 The new Accelerated Study and

         22  Associate Programs, the acronym being ASAP, will

         23  provide renewed attention, not only to opening the

         24  doors of educational opportunity to students at our

         25  community colleges, but by giving these students the

                                                            16

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  tools and support to ensure their timely degree

          3  completion.

          4                 Permit me for a moment to remind this

          5  audience of the importance of our six community

          6  colleges, who are the people who live and work in

          7  our great City. Nearly all of our community college

          8  students are New York City residents. They are

          9  taxpayers and contributors to the very fabric of our

         10  great City.

         11                 Our community colleges serve an array

         12  of constituencies. Beyond those enrolled in degree

         13  and certificate programs, New Yorkers turn to our

         14  community colleges for an array of services, for the

         15  high schools in their campuses, for access to the

         16  free and low-cost cultural events they host and for

         17  continuing education. And the colleges are serving

         18  more New Yorkers all the time.

         19                 For Fall '06, nearly 74,000 students

         20  were enrolled in degree crediting programs at our

         21  community colleges, and more than 116,000 were

         22  enrolled as certificate and continuing education

         23  students.

         24                 There are over 18,500 students from

         25  the City's public high schools participating in
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          2  College Now through the community colleges. As the

          3  number of students continues to increase, the

          4  community colleges are managing the programs and

          5  services needed to support and educate New Yorkers.

          6                 Let me take just a moment, members of

          7  the Joint Committee, to say a few words about each

          8  of our six community colleges. The Borough of

          9  Manhattan Community College is the only community

         10  college in Manhattan. According to data from the

         11  U.S. Department of Education and the Institute of

         12  International Education among colleges nationwide,

         13  BMCC ranks first in awarding Associate Degrees to

         14  African Americans; second in awarding Associate

         15  Degrees to minority students; and fifth in awarding

         16  Associate Degrees to Hispanic Americans.

         17                 Bronx Community College was

         18  established 50 years ago, now offering more than 30

         19  degrees and certificates. It serves ever-increasing

         20  numbers of students over the past five years alone,

         21  and enrollment has increased nearly 20 percent.

         22                 Hostos Community College is based in

         23  the South Bronx, and it takes pride in its historic

         24  role in educating students from diverse ethnic,

         25  racial, cultural and linguistic backgrounds,
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          2  especially Hispanic and African-Americans.

          3                 To that end it possesses special

          4  strengths in transitional language instruction for

          5  all English-as-a-second Language Learners, along

          6  with Spanish, English, Bilingual, Education

          7  offerings.

          8                 Kings Borough Community College is

          9  our only community college in the Bronx -- in

         10  Brooklyn, I apologize. It serves about 30,000 degree

         11  and non-degree students each year, and is the site

         12  for a much additional community programming

         13  initiative. Last year more than 200,000 people

         14  attended special events at Kings Borough.

         15                 LaGuardia Community College, in

         16  addition to serving everything else it does so well

         17  for its home in the Borough of Queens is

         18  consistently receiving national accolades. LaGuardia

         19  is where we house and preserve the archives of New

         20  York Mayors LaGuardia, Wagner, Beame and Koch and of

         21  the New York City Council.

         22                 And lastly, Queens Borough Community

         23  College. To date, more than 46,000 students have

         24  graduated QBCC. More than 12,000 students are

         25  currently enrolled in one of its degree or
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          2  certificate programs and another 10,000 of all ages

          3  and populations participate in its continuing

          4  education programs.

          5                 Of course, members of the Committee,

          6  I would be remiss if I didn't note with appreciation

          7  the Executive Budget's call for increases in

          8  pensions, energy and collective bargaining, all of

          9  them mandatory needs. But these gains,

         10  unfortunately, are offset by the Executive Budget's

         11  recommended reductions.

         12                 We are, however, working productively

         13  with the Mayor's Office to resolve this budgetary

         14  dilemma, and we hope for the Council's support in

         15  that process.

         16                 The Executive Budget eliminates $21

         17  million for community college operations for Fiscal

         18  '08. This directly carves out essential support for

         19  the very core of our community college operations.

         20  CUNY also faces reductions in City support for the

         21  current year, including 2.7 million from our

         22  community college operating budgets. When a PEG of

         23  2.7 million comes in the last quarter of a fiscal

         24  year, it has a multiplicative effect, so its value

         25  is well beyond the $2.7 million.
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          2                 As you all know, these kinds of

          3  reductions of this magnitude, especially coming this

          4  far in the late fiscal year, has a really profound

          5  impact on our operations.

          6                 Let me talk about some of the

          7  reductions and why the consequences are really so

          8  dire for us. If these cuts go through, it will

          9  result in reduced number of faculty positions,

         10  reduced available course options, increased class

         11  size, curtail laboratory hours, reduce counseling

         12  and tutoring services, compromise physical plant

         13  maintenance, and diminish tuition revenues, just to

         14  name a few.

         15                 We must emphasize that increased City

         16  support for CUNY's community colleges through the

         17  CUNY compact remains a critical element for our

         18  University.

         19                 Beyond our operating requirement, we

         20  remain deeply concerned about the proposed

         21  reductions of $11.2 million for the Peter F. Vallone

         22  City Scholarship Program, and about $4.5 million for

         23  the Safety Net Program. The proposed budget

         24  recommendations, if they stand, would effectively

         25  eliminate both programs at the very moment when we
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          2  have increasing numbers of students depending on

          3  precisely this kind of financial assistance.

          4                 I just also note that the Executive

          5  Program, the Executive Budget recommendation,

          6  eliminates funding for important initiatives across

          7  the University, including $1.5 million for the Black

          8  Male Initiative, something I know all of you

          9  understand I have particular passion for.

         10                 And that program has made impressive

         11  strides, thanks to significance in part to the

         12  stored funding of 600,000 that was provided by this

         13  body. Six-hundred thousand in addition for the CUNY

         14  citizenship and immigration project, which continues

         15  to serve not only our own faculty in students but

         16  communities throughout the City as well and many

         17  others. These programs serve thousands of students,

         18  faculty and residents of New York City. They provide

         19  much needed opportunities, often for those from

         20  underserved populations, to gain access to advanced

         21  study and career development. We ask quite simply

         22  that their funding be restored.

         23                 But I am not here merely to ask for

         24  restorations. We seek investments in CUNY's

         25  sustained progress, therefore, we also request a 6.4
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          2  million enhancement, largely framed from a series of

          3  hearings by this very Council on Higher Education.

          4                 The largest portion will be used to

          5  fund full-time faculty and student services

          6  improvements at all our community colleges. It will

          7  offer support for child care, health services, women

          8  centers, and outreach to uninsured students. We know

          9  that it is often these vital programs that enables

         10  students to complete their studies in a timely way.

         11                 Additional funds will strengthen and

         12  expand two programs whose success I've already

         13  mentioned, and that is the BMI and the Immigration

         14  Project. Let me move for a moment to the capital

         15  side that the University is concerned about.

         16                 As you know, we received a multi-year

         17  appropriation from the State in 1998 and 2003 for

         18  the community colleges and Medgar Evers College.

         19  These commitments to five-year capital plans allow

         20  the University to plan and implement building

         21  projects with certainty, something that is not

         22  possible when funding assurances are limited to an

         23  exiting budget year.

         24                 Additionally, we greatly appreciate

         25  the support CUNY receives each year for
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          2  appropriations directly from the Council and our

          3  Borough Presidents.

          4                 At this time the capital program for

          5  the community colleges and Medgar Evers College

          6  totals about $600 million, comprising both State and

          7  City funding. Even with the substantial program,

          8  however, the colleges' capital needs are just not

          9  being met.

         10                 Although State funds are fully in

         11  place, the Executive Budget does not provide

         12  matching City funds of 37.5 million for two major

         13  projects; the replacement of Fiterman Hall for

         14  Borough of Manhattan Community College, and the

         15  completion of the Academic Building 1 at Medgar

         16  Evers College.

         17                 These additional funds are necessary

         18  to address higher estimates for cost of demolition

         19  and hazardous materials abatement at Fiterman Hall,

         20  which we are removing in a very controlled, in very

         21  controlled increments, and to address cost

         22  escalations impacting the construction industry.

         23                 I might indicate to you that each

         24  year that we wait there is about a 30 percent

         25  premium that we are paying on top of what it is that
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          2  we're budgeting. The time here is a critical element

          3  to get these buildings done.

          4                 Our request also includes 12.8

          5  million that will be distributed across the

          6  community colleges for projects at the campuses,

          7  including the first phase of mechanical

          8  infrastructure upgrades at Bronx Community College

          9  and continuing CUNY-wide corrections of health and

         10  safety deficiencies identified in the building

         11  conditional assessment survey conducted in the

         12  1990s.

         13                 Quite simply, we need City funding to

         14  move forward on these projects. Our community

         15  colleges and Medgar Evers College serves nearly our

         16  students in 113 buildings, comprising more than 7.1

         17  million gross square feet.

         18                 Its no surprise that physical plants

         19  of such size require substantial commitments for

         20  their maintenance. The State has done its share, we

         21  ask now that the City meet its responsibility on the

         22  capital side as well.

         23                 We appreciate the support that we

         24  received from the City, but let us remember that

         25  CUNY repays this investment on a day-to-day basis.
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          2  It's comprehensive citizenship and immigration

          3  outreach program surpasses anything offered by any

          4  university in the United States, including offering

          5  immigration and naturalization services on our

          6  campuses, and providing free immigration advice

          7  through the annual CUNY Daily News Now! Call-In

          8  Program.

          9                 Students from our accounting programs

         10  provide the vast majority of the volunteer corps

         11  assisting low-income city residents through the

         12  Department of Consumer Affairs Earned Income Tax

         13  Credit seminars. Our university continues to

         14  register more new voters than any other city

         15  agencies. In fact, I would say of all the City

         16  agencies combined. These are just a few examples of

         17  public services the university renders, in keeping

         18  with the concepts of this partnership that we have

         19  developed.

         20                 Chairman Barron, Chairperson Weprin,

         21  members of the Committees, and, of course, Speaker

         22  Quinn, we deeply appreciate all you have done to

         23  assist us in fulling our mission in the past, and

         24  certainly we look forward to continuing to build on

         25  our productive partnerships. Thank you very much for
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          2  your consideration.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

          4  Chancellor Goldstein. I just want to state the

          5  reason a number of our colleagues left is there was

          6  a scheduling conflict with a budget negotiating

          7  session they're having internally, so a number of

          8  the members went down to that. But they meant no

          9  disrespect to the audience. We're not used to having

         10  such a large audience at our budget hearings, but

         11  obviously that shows the interest on the part of the

         12  student body, and faculty and staff.

         13                 (Applause.)

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: And we're happy

         15  to have you participate in democracy in action.

         16                 Chancellor, as Chair Barron mentioned

         17  in his opening statement, you know, we had thought

         18  we had come a long way to ending this budget dance,

         19  and there is no question that you have strong

         20  supporters you have had each and every year on some

         21  of these programs, certainly the programs that

         22  Council put in, not to mention the community

         23  colleges which we've supported on a regular basis

         24  and we're eliminated from this budget, and I still

         25  can't understand this PEG program, not only as it
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          2  applies to CUNY but really as it applies to all

          3  other agencies in light of the fact that Director

          4  Page did testify here again before he found an

          5  additional billion dollars in revenue that we would

          6  not have a PEG program this year. And we do have a

          7  surplus well in excess of $5 billion so I'm a little

          8  dismayed.

          9                 So, what are you doing, Chancellor,

         10  and I see Vice Chancellor Jay Hirschenson has been a

         11  real asset to the CUNY system for so many years and

         12  really has been a great public servant representing

         13  us for so many years; what are you doing to get that

         14  message to the other side of the hall? It's probably

         15  better to be conveyed there, maybe former

         16  Commissioner Weinshall can help get the message

         17  across as well, because, you know, this type of

         18  year, these type of cuts, I understand it's an

         19  exercise, but, you know, one of these days the City

         20  Council is not going to come to the rescue,

         21  something is going to fall through the cracks and

         22  we're talking about major, major cuts.

         23                 So, what are you doing to communicate

         24  to the other side? And what is the feedback you're

         25  getting from the other side?
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          2                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Councilman

          3  Weprin, let me begin by saying that this is a

          4  remarkable institution. This is an institution where

          5  the lives of people are transformed on a daily

          6  basis. Our society, not only in this City but in the

          7  United States as well, depends on our ability for

          8  public higher education to do what they can do best,

          9  and that is to challenge, to educate and create a

         10  sense of the wonder of learning, and to provide the

         11  skills that our country needs to be productive in a

         12  more and more highly competitive global environment.

         13                 So, that particular introduction, and

         14  I speak about this indefatigably, over and over

         15  again, it's something that I have spoken to all

         16  members of the Executive Branch of City Government.

         17  I think they truly understand how important this

         18  institution is, and hopefully over time that sense

         19  of why this institution, not only should be rewarded

         20  for very good work, but should be supported just for

         21  the very basic core work that it does.

         22                 This University, and pardon me for

         23  giving a mathematical metaphor, it's in my DNA, and

         24  I just can't help it. The topology of this

         25  University has changed. We can't go back to some of
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          2  the practices that I think diminished us in the past

          3  in terms of some of the way in which we conducted

          4  our business. We worked very hard with this Council,

          5  we worked very hard with several Administrations,

          6  both at the State and the City and we have shown

          7  what a great institution can do and I think the way

          8  that I look at the world, one should reward and

          9  acknowledge performance. And if there's any

         10  institution in this City or in this State where

         11  performance is indisputable, it is in this

         12  University, and that is a function of the

         13  seriousness of the students that are sitting out in

         14  this audience I assume today, who come to us and

         15  rely on us for important work, the faculties that we

         16  have across this University, the members of our

         17  various Administrations all working together.

         18                 So, we get this point across over and

         19  over again, and that's what we're trying to do, not

         20  only with the Executive Branch but with the Council.

         21  And I must say, Chairman Barron, you've been the

         22  Chair of the Higher Education Committee for some

         23  time and we've worked very closely together and

         24  Chairman Weprin, you and I have worked very closely

         25  together, I couldn't be more pleased with the
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          2  support that the Council has done. But I think back

          3  to your point, Chairman Barron, and you as well,

          4  Chairman Weprin, we should not have to go through

          5  this exercise every year. This University ought to

          6  be given the resources that it needs in order to do

          7  the wondrous work that it does. And it's exhausting

          8  for you, it's exhausting for our presidents, our

          9  faculties, our students, it's an unnecessary, to use

         10  your word, "dance" and exercise. I think the time

         11  has come to acknowledge performance, to support what

         12  we do well, and we just look forward to working with

         13  you to get it done.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm just going to

         15  cover one more point and then I'll turn it over to

         16  Chair Barron. You referred in your testimony to

         17  Medgar Evers College, and of course, Medgar Evers

         18  College was re- -- as the Chair Barron said in his

         19  opening statement -- was re-designated as a senior

         20  college in the CUNY system in 1994. I repeat, 1994,

         21  which is about 13 years.

         22                 When this occurred, the State took

         23  over the operating costs of the college, leaving

         24  capital costs to be shared equally by the City and

         25  the State. The City has asked the State to take over
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          2  100 percent of the capital cost, as they do for

          3  every other senior college. What is being done

          4  legislatively to push that effort? Because as Chair

          5  Barron correctly pointed out, there is no reason why

          6  Medgar Evers College should be the stepchild of the

          7  system. And I know there has been legislation

          8  introduced, pending; could you give us the status of

          9  what's happening with that and whether Medgar Evers

         10  College will ever be treated by Albany the same way?

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: It's time for

         12  Medgar Evers to be treated like every other senior

         13  college, I agree.

         14                 We have a new Administration now with

         15  Governor Spitzer, and I'm having very intense

         16  meetings with all members of his Administration.

         17  This is an issue that certainly is very high on my

         18  agenda.

         19                 I don't know how many of you have

         20  visited Medgar Evers, but I was there, and I'm there

         21  on a fairly regular basis, I was there about three

         22  or four weeks ago where there was a wonderful

         23  ceremony for men at Medgar Evers who had achieved a

         24  high grade point average, and the room was filled

         25  with these young men who were aspiring to do great
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          2  things in their life. And when I looked around the

          3  facility of Medgar Evers, I felt a sense of sadness

          4  for them, a sadness for the faculty and staff, all

          5  students that work at Medgar Evers. We have to get

          6  this particular academic one building done. We're

          7  talking about a small amount of money. I'm not even

          8  sure, quite frankly, and I really have to go on the

          9  record with this, because the State has made their

         10  obligation based upon what we said we needed, the

         11  City needs to match its obligation, I think the

         12  number is something on the order of 11 or 12 million

         13  dollars, but the longer we wait, the escalating

         14  costs are rearing their ugly heads. And as I said

         15  earlier in my testimony, we're looking at a premium

         16  of a 30 percent coupon premium on every dollar that

         17  we spend now because of time. Time is not our friend

         18  here. We've got to get this done. So, that's our

         19  first effort, and then in the long run, we have to

         20  convince not only the State Legislature, but the

         21  Governor's people, as well, about the importance of

         22  getting a sense of equity with respect to Medgar

         23  relative to the other senior colleges. So, I agree.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I'm going to turn

         25  it over to Chair Barron.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          3  much. Before I begin my questioning, I just also

          4  wanted to acknowledge the CUNY faculty union, they

          5  are here, and there is a proposal that they have

          6  floating. I don't know if it's going to make the

          7  list, but we've been fighting for it to make the

          8  list, I think it's about 6.2 or 3 million dollars to

          9  add more faculty, particularly at counseling to

         10  CUNY, and particularly faculty of color. Because we

         11  need to have an increased number of faculty of

         12  color. So, I wanted to acknowledge their presence

         13  here, and also to Professor Blake who is here from

         14  BMCC. Professor Blake, you can stand up so they can

         15  see you.

         16                 (Applause.)

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Professor Blake

         18  works extremely well with the students and has been

         19  a champion of counseling, particularly at BMCC

         20  because of the issues around Fiterman Hall and

         21  crowdedness, and people still don't realize that

         22  CUNY at BMCC, we were impacted by 9/11, and in a

         23  very traumatic way, and the students directly at

         24  BMCC and around the building of Fiterman Hall have

         25  suffered severe trauma around that and are dealing
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          2  with a lot of overcrowding.

          3                 With that, I wanted to ask about

          4  Fiterman Hall; where are we? I know we got FEMA

          5  money, we got insurance money, City has put in some

          6  money, and I heard some talk of them wanting to have

          7  a theater or something else included in there. I

          8  know they don't what that at BMCC, I wanted to know

          9  if there was any talk of Doctorff or anybody doing

         10  something different with Fiterman Hall, and is there

         11  a data completion target date that will be

         12  completed?

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Fiterman Hall

         14  is probably something that occupies more of our time

         15  than just about any other issue because of the

         16  trauma that occurred on that dark day in the City.

         17  The State put in 27 and a half million dollars, we

         18  had a projected shortfall of 55 million to get that

         19  project completed. The actual dollar figure is on

         20  the order of magnitude of about $190 million. So, we

         21  are short on that projection by about 27 and a half

         22  million dollars that the City needs to put in in

         23  order for that match on the State to be real. We

         24  can't start spending the appropriation from the

         25  State until the City makes that match. But I, again,
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          2  continue to worry about the escalating costs that

          3  are involved, and this is a serious problem, not

          4  just in CUNY, but I think throughout this City.

          5                 That's where we are on the funding.

          6  We are going through the later stages now of the

          7  deconstruction plans to bring Fiterman, the old

          8  Fiterman Hall down so we can clear that site. We

          9  have to do it with great delicacy, and great

         10  adherence to very strict, as we should, protocols

         11  that are promulgated by the EPA and others. We need

         12  to be very concerned about the community so that

         13  there isn't the sense that there will be toxins that

         14  could be put into the environment that might be

         15  hurtful to that community, and we are certainly

         16  deeply aware of that.

         17                 We have a wonderful community group

         18  that we meet with on a regular basis to share

         19  current information. This Administration, meaning

         20  our Administration at CUNY, prides itself on

         21  openness and transparency in the way that we

         22  communicate so there is nothing behind the curtain,

         23  we just put it out as it is.

         24                 Then, you know, hopefully we'll be

         25  able to start the construction. The design is very,

                                                            36

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  very far along at this particular point in time and

          3  if we were to step back from changing the design at

          4  this particular point to start placing functionality

          5  in that particular facility at this late period in

          6  time, it would set the building back further. It

          7  would therefore be longer for our faculty and

          8  students and staff to get into a facility that

          9  they've waited for for close to seven years now, and

         10  it would even have greater escalating costs.

         11                 There is some talk about the

         12  signature theater, and I think having the signature

         13  theater, which is a very interesting theater group

         14  in New York has great appeal.  To be connected to

         15  BMCC I think it would serve as an attracter, and

         16  I've gone on record that I think it's a good thing.

         17  I don't think it would work in putting it in

         18  Fiterman Hall, and I have made that clear because of

         19  the reasons that I've just mentioned, that it would

         20  result in escalating costs that we don't have, and

         21  even more importantly it would change the calendar

         22  so significantly that I think given the amount of

         23  time that we've waited to get this building moving

         24  would just be too high a cost to pay.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Has the City
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          2  backed up off that plan?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: We're in

          4  discussions with them. Nobody is really heavy

          5  handing this at all. I think anything that we could

          6  do to make the BMCC, which is such an important

          7  institution in the area in which it serves, to be

          8  even more available to the community I think would

          9  be a good thing.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: But in those

         11  discussions, are they leaning toward doing it or

         12  not?

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I can't say at

         14  this particular point.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: In the last

         16  meeting you had what did they say to you?

         17                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: No, the last

         18  meeting that I had with this, which was several

         19  months ago, we indicated that the principle of a

         20  theater is something that is appealing, we just

         21  don't think it would work in Fiterman Hall.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So they heard

         23  that clearly?

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I understand
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          2  there may be about 115 million coming down from the

          3  State, because when we don't match the State's

          4  money, it doesn't always go back, sometimes it sits,

          5  and my understanding, talking to the Finance

          6  Department here at the City, that there is another

          7  115 that actually has not been matched. This is not

          8  included in the 604 and that may come out of a

          9  '98/'99 allocation that is just sitting there. We

         10  are exploring that to see if we can get that 115

         11  matched; did you hear anything like that?

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I don't know

         13  anything about that. It doesn't make any sense to me

         14  really, quite frankly, at this point. I think the

         15  only matches that we are waiting for are on Medgar

         16  and on Fiterman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: You don't see any

         18  prior money that's available to be matched?

         19                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I'm not aware

         20  of any.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: The Black Male

         22  Initiative, if you could talk a little bit more

         23  about that because I was at that program at Medgar

         24  Evers and it was really 55 Black Latino men,

         25  predominantly black men, had indexes from 3.2 to
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          2  4.0, and it was really an impressive, impressive

          3  showing that the actual Black Male Initiative is

          4  working in colleges. So, if you can just expand a

          5  little and talk a little more about how it may be

          6  working in other colleges, because I know it was

          7  very impressive in Medgar Evers.

          8                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Councilman

          9  Barron, both you and I were on the stage. You

         10  listened to me and I listened to you, both politely.

         11                 The idea for the Black Male

         12  Initiative emanated with Edison Jackson, Dr. Edison

         13  Jackson, our President of Medgar Evers, who had a

         14  relatively small program, low keyed, and President

         15  Jackson made me aware of what he was doing, and we

         16  talked and I went down to observe and I became very,

         17  very interested in how we could scale up the very

         18  fundamental ideas that he had at Medgar Evers.

         19                 That scaling up resulted from a Task

         20  Force that we put together. I asked President

         21  Gregory Williams, the President of City College, I

         22  asked Valerie Biel, a member of our Board of

         23  Trustees, if they would co-chair a task force for

         24  me. We had college presidents and faculty and

         25  students on it. They came forward with a set of
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          2  recommendations. I went to the trustees. I asked for

          3  their support for the Black Male Initiative. We

          4  received unanimous support from the Board, became

          5  very much a part of our master plan, which was

          6  developed in 2004. It will continue to be in our

          7  master plan that we are developing for the next

          8  go-around.

          9                 Why the Black Male Initiative, and

         10  it's something that was rather controversial, I must

         11  say, in many quarters, but I thought it was the

         12  right thing to do. When I look at higher education

         13  in the United States, I am saddened by how few

         14  African-American men are succeeding in staying in

         15  school and graduating. Do you know that just a few

         16  years ago the number of black males that received

         17  Ph.Ds in mathematics in the United States was 14?

         18  Fourteen in the United States. I mean, these numbers

         19  are just a wake-up call that if there is one

         20  institution in the United States that really should

         21  be a lead to create awareness and wake citizenry up

         22  to the importance of getting black men more

         23  involved, more engaged, and more successful, it is

         24  the City University of New York. It's a relatively

         25  small program.
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          2                 (Applause.)

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: It's a

          4  relatively small program in terms of what it is that

          5  we ask for in support, but those dollars will have

          6  an enormous impact on our society. We must do this

          7  Initiative, and I'm going to find a way, we're going

          8  to just get this going and moving it forward and

          9  showing that we can succeed in ways that other

         10  places have not.

         11                 So, I really thank you for your

         12  support and really ask for you to try to get us the

         13  dollars that we're going to need.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: We're certainly

         15  going to fight for the restoration of 1.5 million,

         16  but I also put in another million as a Chair's

         17  initiative to bring it up to 2.5 million and that's

         18  even pocket change. So, we're hoping that we can get

         19  real support, as we do from the City Council on that

         20  to enhance that.

         21                 What is CUNY's entire budget? Do you

         22  have a breakdown of the total amount of the budget

         23  and how much comes from the City, the State, the

         24  breakdown on that?

         25                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Our budget is
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          2  around $2 billion a year. That --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Two billion?

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Two billion.

          5  That doesn't include monies that I would call as

          6  off-budget money.  From our Research Foundation, we

          7  spend about $325 million a year in research

          8  expenditures.

          9                 We are raising a lot more money now

         10  than we ever did before at this University through

         11  our efforts in philanthropy, and that is thrown into

         12  the hopper as well, so those kinds of additional

         13  dollars are not included.

         14                 The City budget, the budget for the

         15  community colleges is about 500, little over about

         16  five- to six-hundred million dollars in that range,

         17  about 180 million of that is supported by the City.

         18  The remaining money is a combination of State

         19  support and tuition support.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, roughly about

         21  how much comes out of tuition?

         22                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Well, the easy

         23  number, it's about a third, a third, a third,

         24  approximately.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Six,
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          2  seven-hundred million?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Well, the whole

          4  budget for the community colleges is about 540 --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: The entire CUNY

          6  budget, how much is that tuition?

          7                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: About 45, 46

          8  percent.

          9                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: I'm sorry,

         10  which is approximately $800 million.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: About $800

         12  million for tuition, and about what?

         13                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: About a

         14  billion dollars in State aid, and about $200 million

         15  in City support.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, that's it,

         17  about a billion from the State, 800 from tuition,

         18  about 200 million from --

         19                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: That's how

         20  you get to $2 billion.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Right, to make up

         22  the 2 billion.

         23                 What are you hearing about the

         24  State's commitment to higher education money-wise

         25  coming out of Spitzer's budget? Because I heard some
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          2  numbers that were dismally low, and showing a lack

          3  of commitment to higher education in general,

          4  nevertheless CUNY and SUNY.

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I certainly

          6  cannot speak for Governor Spitzer. I've had several

          7  meetings with the Governor and certainly many

          8  meetings in conversations with his principal

          9  advisors. My sense is there is a deep appreciation

         10  for the importance of both SUNY and CUNY on a whole

         11  bunch of dimensions, and I don't think that's a

         12  heavy lift to be able to understand.

         13                 I think more importantly there is a

         14  great disjunction, there is a great imbalance, there

         15  is a lack of symmetry, by the amount of money that

         16  is going into K through 12, and the amount of money

         17  that goes into higher education. You can't fund

         18  education, and fund it at a certain level of support

         19  and then once you reach a certain level reduce it in

         20  the way it is.

         21                 We have an imbalance like this, and

         22  especially this year with the Campaign for Fiscal

         23  Equity, with the amount of money that was agreed

         24  upon, something like $6 billion over the next four

         25  years, and an additional amount of money all from
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          2  beyond that, going from K to 12, and the relatively

          3  paltry sums that have been provided to both CUNY and

          4  SUNY.

          5                 These are organic institutions, CUNY

          6  and SUNY. In order for these institutions to provide

          7  the real opportunities for students, the real

          8  opportunities for our faculty, to do the work that

          9  they are capable of doing, there needs to be

         10  investment in higher education. We have not seen

         11  investment in the way that I would define investment

         12  for decades in this State, we are alone. And I'm

         13  talking on the operating side there has been a much

         14  better investment on the capital side. But on the

         15  operating side there has not been the kind of

         16  investment that we've seen elsewhere in the United

         17  States, and I'd like to believe that there is an

         18  inflection point starting now with this new

         19  Administration. We will see. Certainly my private

         20  discussions give me a sense of optimism that we will

         21  see a much greater awareness for the importance and

         22  the investment needed in order to take both of these

         23  very important systems.

         24                 There is a new commissioner that will

         25  be announced very, very soon on higher education and
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          2  hopefully that Commission will be able to guide some

          3  of the thinking with respect to all of the

          4  regulatory practices and the kinds of investments

          5  that we're going to need to make as a State in order

          6  to bring CUNY and SUNY up to the levels --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: He said he had a

          8  deep appreciation. Did he go deep in his pockets to

          9  reflect that appreciation?

         10                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: I just say that

         11  in fairness to Governor Spitzer, in his Executive

         12  Budget, this was probably the best starting point,

         13  that I have seen in many years at CUNY. All of our

         14  mandatory costs were fully funded, and that's not a

         15  small undertaking, and there was some modest

         16  investment. Modest, yes, but I think a much bigger

         17  investment, far bigger investment needs to be made.

         18                 We have not seen an Executive Budget

         19  where we had true stability, on a going forward

         20  basis for about 18 months than we did with this

         21  particular budget.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Do you have the

         23  numbers?

         24                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Well, we know

         25  what the numbers are for -- 93 million for the
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          2  increase in '08 over the base for the --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Ninety-three

          4  million?

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: And there was

          6  no tuition revenue in that at all, that was all

          7  State supported dollars.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: The SafetyNet

          9  Program, could you give us a sense of the amount of

         10  students that utilized it, benefitted from it, and

         11  the impact of cutting that, that would happen?

         12                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Well, the

         13  Vallone, we sort of bring the SafetyNet and the

         14  Vallone Scholarship Programs together. These are

         15  students with B averages. There is a $1,000 award if

         16  they maintain that particular average. The Vallone

         17  Scholarship is about $11.2 million, if I recall

         18  correctly. The Safety Net Program is an additional

         19  $4.5 million, obviously thousands of students are

         20  being helped.

         21                 We live in a City where so many of

         22  the students that come to our University are

         23  financially at great risk. And I think without the

         24  Vallone Scholarship Program and its companion, the

         25  SafetyNet Program, unquestionably there will have to
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          2  be numbers of students that would need to defer

          3  their matriculation in order for them to develop the

          4  financial base that they're going to need to

          5  continue to enroll.

          6                 So, financial aid is critically

          7  important, but financial aid has to be aligned with

          8  investment. We must have investment in our core

          9  business, that means putting faculty in front of a

         10  classroom, that means having sufficient numbers of

         11  courses so that students could make adequate

         12  progress towards their degree, it means having a lot

         13  more counselors that are needed. So, we need both

         14  the tuition assistance through the Vallone

         15  Scholarship and SafetyNet Program, but we also need

         16  the operating. It's one thing to get a student's

         17  tuition paid for, but we have to have the richness

         18  of the availability of courses and faculties to

         19  challenge them. So, they, to me, I see these as

         20  jointly linked.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: I believe the

         22  Governor of the State said they're not recommending

         23  any tuition increase; will you support that? And I

         24  don't know what that means in terms of the

         25  incremental increases in the Compact, but I believe
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          2  the Governor says he is not recommending any tuition

          3  increases at this time.

          4                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: This year there

          5  was no tuition increase at all recommended and the

          6  Legislature did follow that lead and on a going

          7  forward basis there will not be a tuition increase

          8  for these students that start in September of '08 --

          9  September of '07.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: After that?

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: We have the

         12  CUNY Compact, which is something that I deeply

         13  support. I have seen how a lack of a tuition policy

         14  has had a very chilling effect on students. We have

         15  seen flatlines where there has been no tuition

         16  increase and a very high spike in tuition, without

         17  having the Tuition Assistant Program indexed

         18  according to that spike. What that does is create an

         19  unlevel playing field. It depends on when you enter

         20  the system. If you enter the system at a particular

         21  time given because of when you were born, you can

         22  get an advantage over somebody who enters two years

         23  later because that's when they're entering with a

         24  spike. You can't plan, you can't manage your

         25  finances in an uncertain kind of an environment like
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          2  that, and part of the reason for the CUNY Compact

          3  was to say that if there is going to be a tuition

          4  increase, it has to be at a minimum level, and it

          5  has to be indexed with respect to tuition

          6  assistance, so that whenever a tuition increase

          7  occurs, that indexing is associated with tuition

          8  assistance. At the end of the day, nobody should be

          9  prevented from maintaining their matriculation if it

         10  is on the basis of an inability to pay. I think that

         11  is wrong and that is something that we should not do

         12  at a public university.

         13                 So, while I support, deeply support

         14  the CUNY compact, it was my idea, and it's flesh and

         15  design was enhanced by Vice Chancellor Malave and

         16  others. I deeply believe at my core that any student

         17  that is prevented as a result of any tuition policy

         18  from continuing their education has to be supported.

         19  And I think that we are a state that can do this,

         20  that we are a City that can do this, so that's my

         21  position on a going forward basis.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Well, I just want

         23  to continue to state my position on that. You know,

         24  a State that has a $112 billion budget, a City that

         25  has a $59 billion budget, I don't think there should
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          2  be spike increases or incremental increases on

          3  students. I think they paid enough and it's time for

          4  us to make the public sector be more responsible to

          5  public education, and even get back to the fiscal

          6  feasibility of a free tuition CUNY, because I think

          7  that's possible to at least examine, to see if we're

          8  collecting. If we're kicking out, you know, hundreds

          9  of millions of dollars in tuition assistance, you

         10  know what would happen if that money went into a

         11  budget instead of going to pay a tuition and then

         12  the tuition be -- by the way, do you know how much

         13  money is given out for tuition?

         14                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: It's about a

         15  billion. It's close to a billion dollars in the

         16  State of New York.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: So, you've got a

         18  billion dollars given out to paid tuition, to raise

         19  800 million, billion in and cut the 800 million out

         20  and we're straight. It's even stevens. As a matter

         21  of fact, we even have some change. We have an extra

         22  200 million.

         23                 So, you know, I want to continue to

         24  support that and continue to encourage all of us to

         25  really fight for CUNY. Because I think we have
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          2  something very special at CUNY, our students are

          3  special, and I think that we can really build a

          4  public education institution like none in this

          5  nation. I think we have the best and we've got to

          6  continue to make it the best for our faculty, our

          7  students, the administration. And I want to turn

          8  this over to Council Member Miguel Martinez, who has

          9  some questions as well.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair. And I want to apologize to the Chancellor

         12  for not being able to stay for the testimony, but

         13  we're in the process of budget negotiations, and I'm

         14  part of the budget negotiating team.

         15                 However, I did want to commend you on

         16  your selection of a new Deputy Chancellor of

         17  Facilities. I know we're going to step up a notch in

         18  that department now.

         19                 And welcome, Deputy Chancellor now.

         20  No longer Commissioner.

         21                 Chancellor, I want to understand a

         22  little bit better. In your testimony you say that in

         23  your Executive Budget 21 million dollars were

         24  eliminated for the community college operation; does

         25  that include the list of restoration that's before
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          2  us in the Council?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: No, the full 21

          4  does.

          5                 VICE CHANCELLOR MALAVE: The 21 is a

          6  combination of the 14.6 and the 6.4.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON GOLDSTEIN: Oh, the

          8  restorations, not the enhancements?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Correct, the

         10  restorations.

         11                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Oh, yes, the

         12  restorations.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: From the 21

         14  that were eliminated, that includes the money that

         15  we had before us in restoration?

         16                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Yes, that's

         17  right.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And

         19  particularly, I know I asked you this before but I

         20  need to hear it again, so when the Mayor announced

         21  as a result of his study on poverty, which CUNY was

         22  part of the formula to resolving poverty in the

         23  City, the new accelerated study and associate

         24  programs, correct? What we do in the community

         25  college, were there any dollars attached to that
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          2  from the Executive?

          3                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Yes. The two

          4  major programs, well, actually there were three. The

          5  ASAP program, which over a three-year period

          6  approximates about $20 million. The CUNY prep

          7  program which I think is targeted around 3.7, 3.8

          8  million dollars, and then there is some pass-through

          9  money that really just goes in through our budget

         10  but gets passed through John Jay College Criminal

         11  Justice. Those dollars, yes, were appropriated.

         12                 Now, for the particular fiscal year

         13  that we're in, for example, the ASAP program, a

         14  million dollars was provided in planning money, and

         15  on a going forward basis that program is budgeted

         16  around six and a half million dollars for the second

         17  year, the third year, for three years going, that's

         18  six each particular year, and that's where you get

         19  up to the $20 million. So, yes, it is in the budget,

         20  and we expect to be able to spend it for next year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: That's only

         22  for three years?

         23                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: That is

         24  correct. This is not built into our base. This is a

         25  pilot program.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: So, you in

          3  terms will be limited in terms of the hiring of

          4  faculty for that new program?

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: If you hire new

          6  faculty on the basis of just having that revenue

          7  source, you are placing yourself in a fiscal

          8  precarious position, because there is no expectation

          9  that that particular funding is going to be on an

         10  ongoing basis. So, it would not be a prudent

         11  budgeting device to include full-time faculty for

         12  that particular funding stream.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And I assume

         14  this was communicated to the Mayor?

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: This was

         16  communicated very clearly because we had to outline

         17  exactly how those dollars were going to be spent.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I know as a

         19  result of the hearings conducted by Chair Barron on

         20  many of the support services at the community

         21  colleges, we have as a result an initiative coming

         22  out of the Chair and the Higher Education Committee,

         23  which is a $6.4 million for community college

         24  services improvement.

         25                 The monies that we would use for this
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          2  particular initiative would not be targeted towards

          3  faculty but more towards the services at the

          4  community colleges; am I right?

          5                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Anything that

          6  is not base-budgeted, anything that does not go into

          7  our budget where there is the expectation that those

          8  dollars will be in, really should not be associated

          9  for full-time personnel, unless you have an

         10  expectation that those dollars can somehow be

         11  replenished or reprogrammed to continue on the

         12  ongoing basis.

         13                 When you hire someone on a full-time

         14  basis, you have to assume that this is going to be a

         15  long-term commitment. To do otherwise would be an

         16  irresponsible way to do your budgeting.

         17                 So, whether, you know, if we need to

         18  hire full-time faculty, we need to hire full-time

         19  counselors on some of that money, we would need to

         20  buttress that particular budget with other resources

         21  that we have through reprogramming.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And I'm glad

         23  you're mentioning it because part of the concern I

         24  have, which was if we as a Council put in the --

         25  which carries a lot of support among members when it
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          2  has to do with CUNY, but the concern was, if it is a

          3  Council initiative and there is no long-term

          4  guarantee on these dollars on a continuing basis,

          5  the result of us putting the money in and not having

          6  the support of the Mayor, which clears up the

          7  misconception that this was to hire the academic

          8  personnel, but it's not for academic personnel.

          9                 Having said that, I think that, Mr.

         10  Chair, both Chair Weprin and Chair Barron, as we

         11  proceed with our budget negotiation, I think that we

         12  need to get involved in the discussion of the

         13  Mayor's proposal for CUNY, and particularly in the

         14  community college with the accelerated study and

         15  associate, which puts CUNY in a situation where

         16  they're asked to deal with a social problem in all

         17  of our communities through education, which is

         18  fighting poverty.

         19                 However, the Mayor needs to guarantee

         20  that if we're going to hire the mechanic, the

         21  architect of this, they need to have the sense of

         22  security that this is an ongoing process.

         23                 I doubt very highly that we're going

         24  to get rid of poverty in three years, and I think,

         25  you know, even when the Mayor is no longer around, I

                                                            58

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  think we need to have some sense of security that

          3  within the City's budget these additional dollars

          4  are included for the hiring and for keeping these

          5  full-time personnel, teaching personnel, faculties

          6  at the community colleges, and I think that's

          7  something that I will relate to the budget

          8  negotiating team and to the Speaker, that as part of

          9  our discussion with the Mayor, as it has to do with

         10  CUNY, we need to talk about the hiring of the staff

         11  for the program that his board created. And I'm glad

         12  you clarify that.

         13                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: Yes, you're

         14  hitting on a very important and fundamental

         15  principle that I think really needs to be better

         16  understood and embraced. And that is when the

         17  Council through their wisdom and their sense of

         18  purpose appropriates money through their process, we

         19  can't count on that money on an ongoing basis,

         20  because you will have to visit that each year. A

         21  much better approach from where I sit is to build

         22  these dollars in a continuing way through our base

         23  budgeting, and that's what I would be very, very

         24  strongly supportive of because what it does is

         25  ensure your good intentions have legs beyond the one
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          2  year that you've appropriated that money. We are

          3  very restricted on how we would spend that money

          4  responsibly.

          5                 I mean, nothing is going to stop us

          6  if we wanted to take a risk, use that money and make

          7  long-term commitments, but you'd have to do this

          8  with a very, very delicate, in a very delicate way,

          9  and it is hazardous.

         10                 So, I would very strongly support an

         11  approach whereby the best intentions that you have

         12  are really done in a way that develops a

         13  relationship through negotiations that gets this

         14  into our base.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you,

         16  Chancellor.

         17                 Having said that, on the same line of

         18  thinking, I've already started a conversation with

         19  Jay Hirschenson, Deputy Chancellor, and the same

         20  concern that I have as it relates to the Dominican

         21  Studies Institute, and to many of the good

         22  initiative, and well-intended initiative, as you

         23  mentioned, that the Council puts money. But our

         24  clock is ticking and we're not going to be here for

         25  very long and we want to make sure that these
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          2  programs continue, and after the fact that we're not

          3  here.

          4                 Thank you, Chancellor. Thank you,

          5  Chair. And I have to again excuse myself. If we want

          6  to get the money for CUNY, I have to be downstairs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          8  much. Council Member Martinez, a real champion of

          9  CUNY. That's why we've got to really fight to

         10  baseline. We need to baseline more of CUNY

         11  Initiatives, particularly the Council Initiatives in

         12  CUNY. That's one of the things we're going to be

         13  fighting hard for in the upcoming fiscal year, is to

         14  baseline. What we mean by baseline is that it's a

         15  part of the permanent budget and we don't have to

         16  negotiate it every year, because what the Mayor says

         17  is, oh, I'm not cutting anything from CUNY, I'm just

         18  not putting last year's programs back in. You know,

         19  like we're in college, we're smarter than that,

         20  Mayor. We know that's a cut. But if it's baselined,

         21  then we have it there and we can look at

         22  enhancements. And plus, that's some of the other

         23  tricks in the budget dance, is to have you trying to

         24  restore what you already have instead of talking

         25  about enhancements when you have an economic boom
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          2  and things are going so great, the stock market is

          3  up, because this is a stock market driven economy,

          4  and we surplus this, surplus that. Well, let's

          5  baseline this, because this is really pocket change

          6  that we're arguing over.

          7                 I want to ask you this one other

          8  question, and then I want to finish. The 14.6

          9  million cut from the community colleges and then

         10  another 6.4 million I believe is cut totaling 21

         11  million; if that doesn't come back, we believe we're

         12  going to fight for it and be successful, are there

         13  any contingency plans that you have to deal with

         14  those cuts without hurting the services?

         15                 CHANCELLOR GOLDSTEIN: At the end of

         16  the day, Chairman Barron, we have to, just as good

         17  fiscal people, we have to be able to play the hand

         18  that we're dealt. And if we don't have the $21

         19  million, remember the amount of money that the City

         20  puts in for the community colleges is about $180

         21  million, so $20 million off of that 180 million is a

         22  big piece of money, and so to say that it doesn't

         23  have a chilling effect, you know, we would have to

         24  act responsibly as any other organization, whether

         25  it's a private organization or a public
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          2  organization, we have to do it. We are capable of

          3  managing our affairs. It would have a very chilling,

          4  deep-wounded affect on the students in particular,

          5  and that's something that I don't think anybody in

          6  this building wants to see happen.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you,

         10  Chancellor. And if I could leave one thing with you

         11  before you leave, it's obviously the next month or

         12  so are going to be crucial in the budget process,

         13  and it's very important that we get that message

         14  across to the other side, as well as to this

         15  Chamber.

         16                 We will now take testimony from the

         17  public, from anyone that signed up on any of the

         18  events of the day or Commissioners of the day or

         19  agencies of the day.

         20                 We have signed up from the

         21  Professional Staff Congress, Barbara Bowen,

         22  President, and Steve London, Vice President, and we

         23  have Malika Simmons and Joseph Garber, if you could

         24  all come up.

         25                 Is there anyone else from the public
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          2  that would like to testify? If so, please see the

          3  Sergeant-At-Arms now or that will be it.

          4                 And if anybody wants to submit

          5  testimony, we will take testimony for submission as

          6  we have already, and for the record, we've been

          7  offered testimony from Local 372 of the New York

          8  City Board of Education Employees of District

          9  Council 37, testimony submitted by Veronica

         10  Montgomery Costa, President of Local 372, and we

         11  appreciate the submission and we'll give you extra

         12  credit for submitting.

         13                 Ms. Bowen, you can start. I'm going

         14  to set it at two minutes, but I'm going to not

         15  enforce it unless it's abused.

         16                 MS. BOWEN: Okay, I'll try not to

         17  abuse it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Also, I'm not too

         19  good at setting this thing up here.

         20                 MS. BOWEN: Okay.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: There we go. Go

         22  ahead.

         23                 MS. BOWEN: You have to swear me in?

         24  No, okay.

         25                 Thank you very much, Chairman Weprin,
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          2  and thank you Chairman Barron.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Hold on a second.

          4  You have to quiet down in the back.

          5                 MS. BOWEN: Thank you. Thank you very

          6  much. Thanks for holding the hearing. We are very

          7  pleased, and also to see you Council Member Avella,

          8  listening to us on this very important issue.

          9                 Before I speak about the PSC's

         10  Initiative I wanted to address briefly two things

         11  that came up in the questions. Chairman Barron, you

         12  asked about a proposed tuition increase and the

         13  possibility of that. I just want to remind the

         14  Council that the PSC has really taken the leadership

         15  position in insisting that there not be a tuition

         16  increase. We don't think that the plan for tuition

         17  indexing is a sufficient plan because it builds on a

         18  base of already too high a percentage of tuition

         19  paid by our students, and also does not build any

         20  protection into the system so that students wouldn't

         21  be paying the burden of extra costs to improve CUNY.

         22  And I also wanted to, and to mention in the last

         23  budget we took that position, CUNY took the position

         24  that there should be a tuition increase. And I

         25  wanted to say to Council Member Martinez that the
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          2  program that we're about to propose does address

          3  ongoing recurrent needs for hiring.

          4                 We propose an additional 6.3 million

          5  in funding for the City University of New York for

          6  the purpose of adding urgently needed psychological

          7  counseling faculty at the six community colleges. We

          8  make this proposal in addition to our request the

          9  Council support CUNY's proposal for $34.8 million in

         10  restorations, the restoration needed of the 21

         11  million that you spoke about and the 7.3 million in

         12  enhancements to the Fiscal '08 budget.

         13                 Our proposal for additional faculty

         14  counselors replaces what the union had spoken about

         15  earlier, morphing of the proposal for City Council

         16  diversity scholars.

         17                 For several years, the PSC has

         18  focused on the need for additional faculty

         19  counselors at the community colleges. The City

         20  Council has also addressed this issue under your

         21  leadership. As you know, you've held hearings on the

         22  subject, and you're heard testimony about the

         23  shortage of counseling faculty.

         24                 Our initial proposal first discussed

         25  last year with the City Council called for a general
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          2  increase in full-time faculty at the community

          3  colleges, with the special focus on diversity among

          4  the faculty and the need for more counselors.

          5                 But the events of April 16th at

          6  Virginia Polytechnic Institute and the State

          7  University moved us to change the proposal. While

          8  the causes of the massacre at Virginia Tech were

          9  multiple and complex, one clear issue that emerged

         10  was the importance and psychological and mental

         11  health counseling. Longstanding shortage of faculty

         12  counselors at CUNY suddenly appeared more urgent.

         13                 We are asking the City Council to

         14  provide funding for an additional 51 full-time

         15  faculty counselors at the CUNY community colleges

         16  and for a program to allow closer mentoring of

         17  individual students by full-time faculty in other

         18  academic disciplines.

         19                 A history of budget cuts, as you

         20  know, from the City and State has left CUNY short by

         21  5,000 full-time faculty that's compared to 1975, yet

         22  enrollment is at a 30-year high. That shortage has

         23  been particularly intense in the realm of faculty

         24  counselors.

         25                 The International Association of
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          2  Counseling Services recommends minimum standards for

          3  counseling programs. There are several requirements,

          4  but I'll just focus on one, they recommend a ratio

          5  of one trained counselor for every 1,000 students,

          6  slightly more sometimes. Other professional

          7  organizations call for ratios of something around

          8  one to 500. At CUNY at the community colleges the

          9  ratio is one to 1,628. That's what we're trying to

         10  address. If I had more time I would speak about that

         11  in more detail, but our position is that that ratio

         12  of one to 1,628 is unacceptable at any college, but

         13  if that's true it's especially unacceptable at CUNY.

         14                 If any students in the country should

         15  be provided with adequate counseling faculty, it is

         16  CUNY students. Statistically among the lowest-income

         17  college students in the nation, CUNY students face

         18  pressures unknown at many academic institutions.

         19  They hold down jobs, they support families, they

         20  contend every day with racism and poverty, they

         21  translate and mediate for parents, siblings and

         22  communities.

         23                 We could speak some more about that,

         24  but our main point is they face pressures that go

         25  way beyond pressures of students at residential
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          2  four-year colleges. And also, the fact that our

          3  students do so well despite these pressures and

          4  despite the lack of counselors, I think is testimony

          5  to their intense desire for education. It's

          6  something you cannot know, unless you taught them.

          7                 Our feeling, though, is that these

          8  students could achieve much more if they were

          9  provided with adequate counseling students and

         10  necessary support. One of the most proven routes to

         11  increased retention and improved graduation routes

         12  is attention by faculty counselors and one-on-one

         13  time with other faculty.

         14                 This is an opportunity for the City

         15  Council to offer leadership. You've been very

         16  supportive of restorations to CUNY and additions in

         17  this budget, we're asking you to go one step

         18  further. We feel that the need that was surfaced by

         19  the Virginia Tech tragedy would be a need we cannot

         20  fail to address and cannot fail to address in this

         21  round of budgeting. The conversation nationwide in

         22  the aftermath of Virginia Tech has focused on campus

         23  security, but few public universities have yet

         24  announced a program to increase psychological

         25  counseling.
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          2                 With this initiative, New York City

          3  could demonstrate that while security is vital, it

          4  is not enough. Some of the deepest needs are met

          5  only by counseling.

          6                 So, our proposal is to add 51 faculty

          7  counselors to the existing 44. There are only 44 in

          8  all the community colleges, and that's a cost of 4.3

          9  million, and to put a further $2 million to support

         10  one-on-one mentoring with faculty in other

         11  disciplines, history, math, whatever, a certain load

         12  of students to work with one-on-one.

         13                 And then the final critical element

         14  of the proposal is that it would help CUNY, we hope,

         15  to move closer to fulfilling the statutory mandates,

         16  not just a ziderodum (phonetic), it's a real mandate

         17  to have diversity in the faculty. The 1979 State

         18  Education law makes that plain.

         19                 Arguably there is no academic

         20  discipline in which diversity is more important than

         21  in counseling. For many reasons, students feel more

         22  comfortable with a more diverse pool of counselors.

         23  If this proposal is funded, CUNY colleges would be

         24  encouraged to draw on the outstanding pool of

         25  diverse men and women who enter the counseling
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          2  field.

          3                 So, we feel that this is an

          4  opportunity for ongoing hiring. It's a longstanding

          5  need, and it's a need that cannot go unaddressed,

          6  given what we saw at Virginia Tech, given the

          7  students we teach and incredible pressures that they

          8  face every day.

          9                 So, I don't want to be alarmist, nor

         10  do I want to suggest that hiring counselors prevents

         11  any kind of tragedy from happening, that, you know,

         12  we can't prevent that, and CUNY has really been

         13  remarkable in many ways, given the number of our

         14  students and what they go through to be in college.

         15                 So, we're not presenting this as a

         16  panacea, but even so, we feel that not addressing

         17  this at this time could be dangerously shortsighted,

         18  and we ask the Council to champion it. Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Ms.

         20  Bowen.

         21                 And Mr. London, you agree with

         22  everything Ms. Bowen said?

         23                 MR. LONDON: Absolutely.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay. Did you

         25  want to add to that?
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          2                 MR. LONDON: No, I gave my two minutes

          3  to her.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Okay, that's

          5  fine.

          6                 Ms. Simmons.

          7                 MR. SIMMONS: Thank you. My name is

          8  Malika Simmons, and I wanted to respond to the

          9  testimony given by Robert Hess, the Commissioner of

         10  the Department of Homeless Services.

         11                 Chair Weprin, and other members of

         12  the Council, as a person who was formerly homeless

         13  and actually a recipient of some of the services, I

         14  wanted to give you my personal input and inform you

         15  that where the report, the agency operations report

         16  suggests that temporary emergency shelter for

         17  eligible homeless people are provided in a safe and

         18  supportive environment, that is always the case. It

         19  has been my personal experience that sometimes the

         20  services providers are intimidating and make

         21  homeless people feel as though they are the victim,

         22  that they've done something wrong to find themselves

         23  in this unfortunate situation. So, as, of course, I

         24  am aware that there is a great need to serve,

         25  obviously, this population, I just feel as though it

                                                            72

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  needs to be more supportive, it needs to be more

          3  understanding and there needs to be some type of

          4  sensitivity training that the workers go through.

          5  Because at the end of the day if you found out that

          6  you could not go to your home and you didn't have

          7  the resources to go to a hotel and you didn't have

          8  any family members, you, yourself, could find

          9  yourself in this unfortunate situation. And when

         10  you're felt to be made as though you're a victim or

         11  you've done something wrong, that further compounds

         12  the situation, and makes it more difficult for

         13  families to survive in that type environment.

         14                 So, I just did not want this

         15  opportunity to go by without providing my personal

         16  testimony as having been a recipient, and grateful

         17  that there was some place to go but upon entry of

         18  this system found a lot of tactics that were

         19  intimidating and now that I'm out of the system and

         20  able to sustain myself, I remember some of the

         21  people that quote/unquote left behind stated that,

         22  "Please remember me. Please remember me as you go

         23  on." Because it was very unfortunate, and one of the

         24  tactics, I just want to mention, people that are in

         25  constant fear state that they don't want to speak up
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          2  because they are fearful of an ACS being thrown at

          3  them, a lot of the families that are in the shelter

          4  system.

          5                 So, I just, like I said, did not want

          6  this opportunity to go by without stating the need

          7  for sensitivity in this system, and I hope that can

          8  be addressed, if at all possible.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: I appreciate your

         10  testimony, MS. Simmons. I'm glad to see that you've

         11  rebounded, that you obviously have become in better

         12  circumstances than when you were homeless, and I

         13  think you are very articulate and I think you could

         14  be a role model for other homeless people and other

         15  people that are downtrodden and feel that there is

         16  no hope, that there is hope, and obviously the

         17  recommendations you made as far as sensitivity

         18  training and dealing with workers in the City is

         19  absolutely 100 percent correct, and I applaud you

         20  for coming here today publicly to testify and I hope

         21  you'll serve as a role model in other places.

         22                 MS. SIMMONS: Thank you so much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Mr. Garber.

         24                 MR. GARBER: Good afternoon. Chair

         25  Weprin, Chair Barron, members of the City Council

                                                            74

          1  FINANCE AND HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  staff, my name is Joseph Garber. I'm the

          3  Corresponding Secretary for the Civil Service Merit

          4  Council and the Executive Vice President of the

          5  Citizens Police Academy Alumni Association.

          6                 This afternoon I hope to go through

          7  the written testimony by Commissioner Kelly and the

          8  City Council briefing paper to give some

          9  intellectual points, nuances and corrections.

         10                 It was very interesting to see on

         11  page one of Commissioner Kelly's testimony that we

         12  have some new units called the Firearm Suppression

         13  Division, a Specialized Gun Enactment Unit, a Gun

         14  Monitoring Unit and a Juvenile Desk in the Real Time

         15  Crime Center. I'm curious where these personnel to

         16  fund these units have been taken? I hope they

         17  haven't been taken from field units but rather from

         18  maybe staff units that currently are maybe

         19  overstaffed.

         20                 On page three it indicates that two

         21  community coordinators were hired in CAB. Okay, if

         22  two were hired, I would suggest that we hire more.

         23  It also states that the Community Affairs Bureau was

         24  expanded. Please be advised the Community Affairs

         25  Bureau has staffing on the headquarters level, on
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          2  the borough level and on the precinct level.

          3                 I often find the whole community

          4  affairs function at this moment is too bifurcated

          5  and there may be overlapping in the function itself.

          6  So, therefore, I suggest that there has to be a

          7  close monitoring.

          8                 For instance, I reside in the 90th

          9  Precinct. Two Community Affairs Officers in the 90th

         10  Precinct, Police Officer Roman and Police Officer

         11  Videll, their main task is to protect the image of

         12  Deputy Inspector Core Pisaro.

         13                 On page six it says the Paid Detail

         14  Unit, okay, is concerned with providing security to

         15  private corporations. I'm curious, how is that

         16  advertised? Does every corporation know that the

         17  services of the Paid Detail Unit is available?

         18                 On page seven I agree that the

         19  Auxiliary Police Officers must get a vest. On page

         20  seven it says that the Precinct Receptionist is a

         21  pilot program. Please be advised that the Precinct

         22  Receptionist Program has existed over 30 years in

         23  the NYPD.

         24                 On page seven, I question why do we

         25  need $550,000 to provide statistics on stop and
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          2  frisk? That's what it takes to gather those

          3  statistic, I think something is wrong, we should

          4  look at this.

          5                 On page eight, $813,000 for uniforms

          6  for the Explorer Program, what kind of uniforms are

          7  we supplying for $813,000? What does it cost, $500 a

          8  uniform? I think we have to look at this. To me I

          9  think it's too much money.

         10                 Page eight, since the School Safety

         11  Division was transferred to the Police Department in

         12  December of '98, why is it now in FY '07 and FY '08

         13  that we're trransferring money from the Department

         14  of Education to the Police Department? Without

         15  understanding every budget modification plan, but I

         16  think, Chair Weprin, as a financial expert, you

         17  should possibly look at this.

         18                 On page eight, what type of private

         19  grants is the Police Department getting? On page

         20  eight also, relative to civilianization, please be

         21  advised that just to hire PAAs in the lowest level

         22  will not generate a career civilianization plan

         23  since if you do not have a career path, people are

         24  going to leave.

         25                 From my PAA class of December 4th,
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          2  1972, out of over 110 people, I don't believe there

          3  are two of us left, okay? So, we have to look at an

          4  entire career path. You have to promote people to

          5  senior PAA, Principal Administrative Associate,

          6  Administrative Staff Analyst, and Associate Staff

          7  Analyst. You cannot go only with low level titles.

          8  You will not have a career-oriented civilian cadre

          9  in the Police Department.

         10                 Okay, I'm very glad that the 121st

         11  Precinct, that the 121st Precinct is finally going

         12  to be built. If you're talking here about physical

         13  plant, let me highlight to you on page nine --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Can you sum up,

         15  Mr. Garber?

         16                 MR. GARBER: Okay.

         17                 Physical plant 51 Chambers Street, 51

         18  Chambers Street, Management Office and Directive

         19  Section, I understand it has a leaky flood.

         20                 Let me quickly just go into your

         21  Council briefing paper. I just want to highlight a

         22  couple of things. On page five, uniformed force

         23  should read uniformed service. Communications bureau

         24  should read communications division. On page six,

         25  building, the technical command is building
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          2  maintenance section. Health services no longer

          3  exist, it's called Medical Division. Employment

          4  practices is not under the Personnel Bureau, it's

          5  under the Deputy Commissioner for Equal Employment

          6  Opportunity.

          7                 Housing Police. Let me speak about

          8  that. There is no such a thing as Housing Police,

          9  it's the Housing Bureau. And BIA the PSAs, and

         10  please be advised that the PSAs since the merger

         11  have diluted their personnel back to precincts, so

         12  no matter how bad the merger was, you're taking

         13  Chief Jaffe's moved police functions in Manhattan

         14  and in the Bronx out of the PSAs into the precincts.

         15  We have to look at this.

         16                 I suggest that the City Council hire

         17  an independent consultant to study the organization

         18  structure of the Department, because I believe if we

         19  have 34,000 headcount uniformed members of the

         20  service, you should see where they're assigned. Are

         21  they assigned to precincts? Are they assigned

         22  pushing paper? We still have that problem, sir.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Garber.
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          2                 Anyone else? Going once, going twice,

          3  the Finance Committee is now adjourned for the day.

          4  We will reconvene tomorrow morning at 10:00 with the

          5  Department of Transportation.

          6                 (Hearing concluded at 4:15 p.m.)
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